A Brief History and Description of St Mary the Virgin, Bampton

Like so many English parish
churches, Saint Mary’s, Bampton,
has evolved over many centuries
to become the building it is today.
The original church  would
probably have been a wooden
building with a thatched roof. In
the 8" or 9" century, it was
served by a religious community
- whose leader was a man called
. Beornwald. We know nothing
| about him, except that he was
f venerated locally as a saint, and
eventually had a shrine within the
later stone church.

It is possible that the niche to the
north of the altar in the Lady
Chapel was created from the
remains of that shrine, which
apparently contained a relic of
Beornwald’s head, and was much
visited in pre-Reformation days,
especially on St. Beornwald’s
Day, 21% December. His feast is
remembered nowadays with an
annual concert held on or close
to that day.



A fascinating document, in Latin and OIld English, of which a
facsimile and translation can be seen in the church, refers to certain
gifts having been made by King Eadwig (or Edwy) ‘to the holy man
at Bampton and the community’. Eadwig’s gift seems to have been
confirmed by the last Saxon ruler of England, Edward the Confessor,
who granted a substantial portion of this Bampton land to his
chaplain, Leofric, when he became the first Bishop of the new diocese
of Exeter. Leofric used this as an endowment for the Dean and
Chapter of Exeter Cathedral, who then inherited the right to appoint
priests to serve the parish of Bampton.

- Fma - —

|." ‘:‘. = ‘
{ Moo acenesce ala- muyay : "}rT k
- NT1A Mala- R ETIAM AWHDL APPROPIYQUARE EXCIDIA- ET BEATIUS EST HOMINEA
. oK moraalem illuc }lxmmf paflib: wndere. uby Pnﬂ;ﬁx:m, buf urg beaaf Pgamxp’ gcor;lrmr vuere -Hoc emm wuere bmm:w
— © operzce regem xpuaum omw menaf condmne fibi alacrieer lemere- quia muferabile . regem hoc felo coronart: & wn fircuro | erermt @
- P;mf_:w\cuparl;Hf:‘. uero msxlx—mc:m: meuenf: bif quog: ne fuccumbam uenf- 660 Wilirluys mﬂnnofuf dns{ori bafileuf con.
. «cefli fidelem med Leoficyac “cpm eprem manfor: 5 dwﬂ:“& apud BeaTyy: & ESTIYH- & Crommanye: Ao Holicyms.
. pele fa pERL dpli m cxoma. bt equf’ aprmpahfm %.tmwﬁ ewfdem peclp wiltum amphare: heredrcario wre- tam m
L. maguf quim m m?dmfrel[ adfe rre prncnb: Wwf@,ﬂ - pafenf: catal & mcukaf cxrab: & redwb: e wnore ac conceffn ur.
et @ aborm cenfu fie lbe- cxecpr expedmone. Pdkﬁ‘ﬁfﬂ e A -Siquf auce qd” abfic duabolo mibganze |
- meum regalem conceffum pfumaz cuercere- & beneficia predifle poclf & canomerd’ dara” decrahere- uel 1 aliquo mmuere: nifi mﬂ? :
. roddendo ‘& duplicrer reftruendo ¢ di pclp faoffacar m ohe, beary duuna woce dammacef fiac focuf omum srum. ‘
. Anno dommee wearnawond Aullesiao Lxyumr- confemmente Wilneluo rege dara oft bee wrra.| gecle fa PETRI lPﬁﬁ\ =
{ %onm aurcate duenerabily prefule LeofRico fub wlhmonio corum qut fubferrpa func: ! i
L 1] [yn2 ‘oa lxmosrmctfm Per l‘f"“r ?: fadpI; cyming ageag @i pene abmwnr-j]ﬂmhﬁp&t-j [nzpp&.ﬁ-.fx:yﬂultlmur
! ynger unnan- Lo grbocyan uu:u‘fcr: Pty mynfine on : ‘pep ceoman lace uzfi':ywanahns manhwflm; g“mxmmqr- ;
| anlang cemzfe P’ﬁf“‘i“"f?“ prerexena gemane iy myj - hue oy r w‘xnmseny%h}or}ntm hx:onkalnqﬁqu:nm-?lm- gim&aw L
. anpe Lace- beepre bephealpmg v thpuryce §onYa no,ugnn,-‘Fulms_ p v 1R yRgOy
- bpaceprive gim papholanbpsg ur feice. anolang bocey upw pam posg bgnora i
B hgml‘ on}a fmnb[ust-vp]’@[}i‘ canbjucge -wo[ms peser on bupgaye-ai g
fee prauey mynfipe on prancefine- alle paceoSunga. pey oyt iy fmo

»LGsemzyn e aniie B T
curbe pr Lag mzo soplire o Leoppuc b- Lecgebocyan. pop _)'ufh* wn ¢ pecper mynﬁel:;‘u el -
on plonahepao- or plonahearso up onpone per be PE“ e cypean upw pa = oﬁfr‘mw wpan

peepe e eafe anolars paene oyc o han pearpe of pam prce nols on haapon.jfpa nop on Pafinala p
Tipa = vapolsfery lano fropr aoun ma]nm'f frane ]frq anolang fqranoty g a P““F”Fm" e | 3ic
fel Q60 wilnelays dl'sfu rex anglorum bane donavionem ppecug memorye mandaur T oo mmlm,r@,u, adonu- > PR
| i Eao S116a5095 archicpfixpt pecle confirmun  } €co Roveesays comef- F€oo  wluelmys wcecomef
| |. &G0 —aoo cpf confoluduun- }€co  Wlhelmof comef: } Goo Rodhercaf’  wcccomef’
et oo BeRwanyys cpfgoroborun. 3 €co. direnr D= +.g. 0. Rocgermul  wicccomet:
T Goo Leofiicys opf concefli & fuubferypfi- ¥ Goo + f'duumt:f comef. 3 Coa Loopno),‘ur minifter
© o €oo GoSFREDYS ¢pf confenfi- - 3 Goo orkerut comef-  F Eso0 Ricarduf  mimfter
. T €co - Gyso epf affenfi prebus- 1 Goo uf comef.  F G0 folco min
£ oo wilnelays epf conforzaur- +’6M { ancllar? | €oo  Hugo it
*+ Goo Baloyywyus abh digni dixe: 360 ‘,,5(.[,.,“{‘ prefbr. F €Eso Raulpuf It
J s v VR o 3 :
k / ¥ 4
-t e oo

The document, sealed by the first Norman King of England, William
the Conqueror, confirms both Edward the Confessor’s gift and
Leofric’s position as bishop, even though William generally prefered
to replace senior Saxon clergy with Normans.



Some of the stonework
in the church may
possibly come from a
late Saxon building —
look for stones laid in a
‘herring-bone’ pattern —
although they could
equally well come from
the second_half of the
11" century, after the
Norman Conquest of
1066.

Stair turret

Herringbone pattern seen in the
stair turret. Before the west wall
was opened up and the archway
created that is just visible on the
right in this picture, the turret was
part of the outside of the building.
On the north side of the turret is a
small window, probably the oldest
in the church.

Window in N wall of stair turret

This 11" and 12" century church was much smaller than today’s

imposing building.



Inside the church - a walk through time

If you stand near the small nave
altar, facing east towards the
high altar and large stained-glass
window, you are effectively
standing in the entrance to the
original church.

Wooden ceiling, the
floor of ringing chamber

The massive tower, with
its wooden ceiling above
you, was originally
supported on four
Norman (Romanesque)
rounded arches, of which
only the easternmost one
remains, incorporated
later into the pointed
Gothic arches, introduced
when the tower was
Romanesque rounded arch raised.




Ahead of you, in what is now the chancel, was the main body or nave
of the original church, which probably had a semi-circular apse at the
east end where the altar was situated. The stair turret, just behind you
to the left, was on the outside of this building, and it has a small
window on the north wall which is probably late Saxon in date.

East wall and altar in the Lady Chapel

In the mid-12" century the building was extended and remodelled.
The apse was replaced by a flat east wall and two transepts were built
to the north and south of the tower, each of them having a chapel on
the east wall.



To the west of the
old entrance a
new nave was
built, and the
tower was raised.
Some of the
Norman windows
in this new tower
storey can be seen
if you stand in the
north transept,
face south and
look up.

The outline of the wide
Norman arch leading to
the south transept chapel
can still be traced in the
wall to the south of the
organ.




North aisle

Move into the centre of the nave and look around to see some of the
work done in the mid-13" century. The nave walls were partly
demolished and replaced by the present arrangement of columns and
pointed arches, leading into the two new aisles to north and south.

[

According to Sherwood and
Pevsner in The Buildings of
Oxfordshire (1974, page 430)
the aisle windows with their
‘triplets of graduated trefoil
lancets set in cusped rere-
arches follow a local pattern,
‘but in no other church is it
used so extensively and
effectively’.



During the 13" century also, around the
year 1270, the tower was again raised and
the elegant spire was added, with four
figures of saints set around its base.

You can see one of these original
statues in the north aisle. St John
the Baptist fell down during a gale
on January 25" 1990 and a
replacement now stands on the tower. Another statue, of St Andrew,
had been replaced in the 19" century, but the remaining two 13%
century statues are still in place
although  their  identities are
uncertain.

At the west end of the nave we move
into the 14™ century, with the great
west window, its simple intersecting
tracery a mirror image of the east
window at the opposite end of the
building, now filled with 19" century
stained glass.




The base of the font
S s also 14™ century,
but it supports a 19™
N century bowl.
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More 14™ century work can be seen when you move into the chancel.
Behind the altar is a late 14" century reredos showing Christ and 12
Apostles, with St Paul in place of Matthias. Matthias was Judas
Iscariot’s successor as the twelfth apostle. Traces of paint can still be
seen on the figures, reminding us that a medieval church was full of
vivid colour and ornament.

The chancel underwent a major remodelling in the mid 19" century,
along with the rest of the building, but much earlier work remains.
The 13™ century piscina and sedilia (three seats for use by clergy
during Mass) to the south of the altar face the magnificent double
Easter Sepulchre on the north wall. This is 15" century, and was used
for various liturgical ceremonies during Holy Week. As with the
reredos, traces of colour can be seen on the stonework.
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Double Easter Sepulchre
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Misericord with carving of a bull
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The choir stalls take
us on into the 16M
century and contain
four misericords
with carvings on the
underside of these
tip-up  seats: a
‘green man’, a
dragon or serpent,
foliage and a bull.



This part of the church was used by the clergy and, until the
Reformation it functioned quite separately from the nave, which was
where the lay people worshipped.

In medieval times and right on up to the 19" century Bampton had
three Vicars, each of whom looked after a particular ‘portion’ of what
was a very large rural parish. They all lived around the church and
would have prayed the daily offices and celebrated mass together in

the chancel.

Three of the houses that have been vicarages

Churchgate House
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Cobb House

Kilmore House
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The 16" century
continues as you
pass the rather
crude tomb of
George Tompson
on your way into

the Horde Chapel
with its 17" and
18t century
family
monuments,
crowded with
cherubs and

scrolls and other
baroque devices.

As this is now a vestry, filled
with the impedimenta and
accoutrements of a working
church, the atmosphere of a
mortuary chapel has long been
lost, but those parts of the
monuments open to view are
still worth a look.

Inside the Horde Chapel
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4 " To your right as you come out of the
" Horde Chapel was the 19" century
organ, built by William Gray in 1812,
- whose fine Georgian organ case
= remains and was modified by Gray
= and Davison in 1870. Work was also
done in the early 1990s, after the
statue of St John fell from the tower in
1 a gale and crashed into the roof above
the organ sending debris into the

pipes.

A major restoration and
enhancement at the time of writing
this — early 2016 - is being
undertaken by Peter Collins Organs
to increase both the range and the
volume of the instrument.

The organ being dismantled and a
few of the organ pipes
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Into the 21t century, and
still in the area of the organ
and Horde Chapel, modern
conveniences and a small
kitchen were added as a
millennium project,
enabling the building to be
used more effectively for
both worship and social
activities.

The tower and spire with its statues
all built around 1270; the Norman
door leading into the south
transept; the 14™ century west
porch  with its  ballflower
decoration; the 15" century porch;
various gargoyles and carved
heads.

Above: the Norman door
Opposite: the west porch
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Ballflower decoration
round the west porch

One of many gargoyles

The South porch
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Notes to various items of interest inside St Mary’s, Bampton

' s
W c

Nave

1. Font — 14" century base, 19" century bowl. Corbel in SW
corner above crude carvings, sometimes referred to as
‘instruments of the Passion’ but more like farrier’s tools

2. John The Baptist — from the base of the spire. Other statues
are: St Andrew (replace in the 19" century.) possibly St Peter
(given the Exeter connection) and (highly debateable) St James.

3. Stair turret — with herringbone brickwork.

South Chapel
4. Architect’s drawings of church before the 1860s restoration.
External view of church before the clerestory was removed
(Skelton & Willis 1827)
5. Facsimile and translation of the grant of land by William 1 to
Leofric.
6. The Organ - by Gray 1812 remodelled in 1840 and renovated
and remodelled in 2016 (not original to the building.) Behind
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the organ and usually inaccessible is a piscina and reredos,
indicating the position of an altar here in the Middle Ages.

7. The rather uninspiring tomb of George Tompson, next to
which is a worn effigy, possibly related to the knight’s effigy in
the Lady Chapel. South doorway, 12" century; the exterior has
good Norman mouldings.

8. The Horde Chapel, formerly a mortuary chapel, now a vestry,
erected in its present form in 1702 and lined with monuments
relating the Horde Family of Cote.

9. Choir stalls with linenfold panelling c. early 16" century. TH
and horn/shell — Thomas Hoye: JS — John Southwode. Four
Misericords — ‘Green Man’, Dragon/Serpent and Foliage: Bull.

10. ‘Double’ Easter Sepulchre — late 15"/early 16™ century.
Vestry door next to it has plain round-headed arch and old
wooden door with 14" century ironwork.

11. The current Vestry appears to have been a chapel at one
time — piscina in NW corner.
12. Late 14™ century reredos with traces of colouring. L-R

Matthew, Philip, Bartholomew, James The Great, Andrew,
John, Jesus Christ, Paul, Peter, James, Simon, Thomas, Jude.
Aumbry cupboard behind the altar

13. Late 13" century piscina and sedilia (raising the floor late
19" century has altered proportions as with the choir stalls.)
14, Brasses (not precisely where first set:) Thomas

Plymmyswode and Robert Holcot — both vicars in the 15%
century — and Frances Horde.

15. The Lady Chapel — Canopied recess (14™ century) with
heads of king and queen. Possibly Easter Sepulchre of (who
knows?) part of the shrine of St Beornwald. Note stone bed for
a brass of mitred and croziered figure below.
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